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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT -
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 72917 AP% 12 AM10: 37

CASENO.: L X i

KATHERINE FINDLAY B
and other similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiff,
Vs. Case No.: 3'»['3*0/-1’(%' "—j: qug
THE TIX COMPANIES, INC.

Defendant.

/
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, KATHERINE FINDLAY (“Plaintiff”), by and through the undersigned counsel,
hereby sues Defendants, THE TIX COMPANIES, INC. (“Defendant™), and in support avers as

follows:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. This is an action by the Plaintiff for damages exceeding $15,000 excluding attorneys’
fees or costs resulting from Defendants’ violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§
201-219 (“FLSA”), Breach of Agreement, and interference with rights under the Family and
Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”).

2. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s FLSA claims pursuant to the 29 U.S.C. § 216.

3. Plaintiff was at all times relevant to this action, a resident of Clay County Florida, within
the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court.

4. Defendant, THE TJX COMPANIES, INC., is a Foreign Profit Corporation conducting
business in Clay County, Florida, where Plaintiff worked for Defendant and at all times material

hereto was and is engaged in interstate commerce.



- Case 3:18-cv-00481-BJD-PDB Document 1 Filed 04/12/18 Page 2 of 11 PagelD 2

5. Venue is proper in Clay County because all of the actions that form the basis of this
Complaint occurred within Clay County and payment was due and owing in Clay County.

6. Declaratory, injunctive, legal and equitable relief sought pursuant to the laws set forth
above together with attorneys’ fees, costs and damages.

7. All conditions precedent for the filing of this action before this Court have been
previously met, including the exhaustion of all pertinent administrative procedures and remedies.

8. On March 19, 2018, Plaintiff filed a timely charge of employment discrimination with the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) and the Florida Commission on Human
Relations (“FCHR”™), claiming discrimination based on disability. Plaintiff reserves the right to
amend complaint to include such claims.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

9. Plaintiff performed work for Defendant from on or about October 25, 2016 through on or
about February 8, 2018.

10. Plaintiff was hired by Defendant as an assistant store manager, but performed
substantially the same work as non-exempt sales associates.

11. Plaintiff worked 6 days a week, approximately 50-60 hours per week.

12. Plaintiff would also work during her one hour lunch break, which was not compensated.

13. From the beginning of employment, Defendant was aware that Plaintiff had a son who
has autism (Steven).

14. Throughout employment, Plaintiff would ask for days off to take care of Steven: to attend

her son’s Individualized Education Program (IEP) meetings and doctor’s appointments.
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15. Whenever Plaintiff would ask for days off to take care of Steven, her supervisor
Kimberly “Kim” Branson would reply by saying that she also had a husband and kids at home to
take care of, and would deny any requests.

16. Kim created a hostile work environment for Plaintiff, and was never accommodating to .
Plaintiff and her son’s disability.

17. Plaintiff had accumulated 86 hours of paid sick time during her employment. Kim never
allowed Plaintiff to use this paid time off to take care of Steven; instead Plaintiff had to take
personal days off, which were unpaid, when she had to take care of her son.

18. On or about December 6, 2017, Plaintiff received her first write-up from her supervisor
Kim. She was told that this was for poor work performance. On or about December 29, 2017,
Plaintiff received a second write-up for the same proffered reasons.

19. On or about January 12, 2018, Plaintiff emailed her District Manager Marc Zoon, since
the write-ups were unjust and she believed she was performing her job duties properly.

20. On or about February 1, 2018, Plaintiff spoke to Irene Antonacci, Marc’s assistant, about
starting the process of FMLA. Plaintiff wanted to take time off to take care of Steven who was
extremely sick at the time.

21. The process was never completed since Plaintiff was terminated a week later, on or about
February 8, 2018.

22. Since termination, Plaintiff has asked Defendant to pay her the bonuses she is entitled to,
as written in her hiring agreement, which have not been received.

23. Plaintiff is also entitled to a payout for President Club; an additional bonus from the

president of the company for exceeding the company’s set goals, which Plaintiff’s store won

while she was working for the Defendant.
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24. At all times material hereto, Defendant had or should have had full knowledge of all
hours worked by Plaintiff, including those hours worked in excess of forty in a given work week.

25. Plaintiff was not paid at the proper overtime rate for all hours worked in excess of forty
per week.

COUNT1I
FLSA Violation against THE TJX COMPANIES, INC.

26. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25
of this complaint as if set out in full herein.

27. This action is brought by Plaintiff to recover from the Defendant unpaid minimum wage
and/or overtime compensation, as well as an additional amount as liquidated damages, costs, and
reasonable attorney’s fees under the provisions of the FLSA.

28. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant had two or more employees who
regularly handled goods and/or materials which had been sold and transported from across state
lines of other states, and the Defendant obtains and solicits funds from non-Florida sources,
accepts funds from non-Florida sources, uses telephonic transmissions going over state lines to
do its business, transmits funds outside the State of Florida, and otherwise regularly engages in
interstate commerce, particularly with respect to its employees.

29. Upon information and belief, at all times material hereto, Defendant’s annual gross
revenue exceeded $500,000 per annum on its own, or as part of a joint enterprise with the other
corporate Defendant named herein, or which are as of yet unknown but will be revealed through
further discovery. To the extent that Defendant operated as part of a joint enterprise, it did so
with corporate entities that performed related activities, under the common control of the

individual Defendant, and for common business purposes related to the work performed by

Plaintiff for Defendant.
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30. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendanﬁ is and was, during all times hereafter
mentioned, an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as
defined in §§ 3 (r) and 3(s) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) and 203(s). Defendant’s business
activities involve those to which the FLSA applies. The Plaintiff’s work for the Defendant
likewise affects interstate commerce.

31. Plaintiff seeks to recover for unpaid wages accumulated from the date of hire and/or from
three (3) years from the date of the filing of this complaint.

32. Defendant knew and/or showed reckless disregard of the provisions of the FLSA
concerning the payment of minimum and/or overtime wages as required by the FLSA and remain
owing Plaintiff these wages since the commencement of Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant
as set forth above. As such, Plaintiff is entitled to recover double damages.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays for the following relief against Defendant:

a. Adjudge and decree that Defendant has violated the FLSA and has done so willfully,
intentionally and with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights;

b. Award Plaintiff actual damages in the amount shown to be due for unpaid minimum
and/or overtime wages, with interest; and

¢. Award Plaintiff an equal amount in double damages/liquidated damages; and

d. Award Plaintiff the costs of this action, together with reasonable attorney fees; and

e. Grant Plaintiff such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper under the

circumstances.
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COUNT II
Breach of Agreement Against
THE TJX COMPANIES, INC.

61. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25
of this complaint as if set out in full herein.

62. Defendant breached its agreement with Plaintiff by failing to pay the amount due to
Plaintiff for services provided and performed under their agreement, and by not properly paying
Plaintiff for all work performed in violation of the laws of the United States and the State of
Florida.

63. Plaintiff seeks to recover Attorney Fees pursuant to Fla. Statue 448.08.

64. Plaintiff suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s breach of said agreement.

WHEREFORE Plaintiff seeks damages from Defendants for breach of agreement,
exclusive of pre-judgment interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees and any and all other relief that this

Honorable Court deems just and proper.

COUNT III
Unpaid Wages

65. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25
of this complaint as if set out in full herein.

66. Plaintiff performed work and provided services for Defendant as described above.

67. Defendant agreed to compensation Plaintiff for the work performed and the services
provided.

68. As of the filing of this complaint, Defendant has failed to pay Plaintiff all compensation
owed, including unpaid minimum wages, overtime wages, bonuses/commissions, and unused

paid time off, in violation of the laws of the United States and the State of Florida.
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69. Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to suffer, damages as a result of Defendant’s failure
to pay all compensation owed.
WHEREFORE Plaintiff seeks damages from Defendant for unpaid wages, exclusive of
pre-judgment interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees and any and all other relief that this Honorable
Court deems just and proper.

COUNT IV
Quantum Meruit

70. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25
of this complaint as if set out in full herein.

71. Plaintiff has conferred a benefit onto Defendant by performing and providing services for
Defendant.

72. Defendant has knowledge of the services performed and provided and the benefit
provided by Plaintiff.

73. Defendant accepted Plaintiff’s services to Defendant.

74. Defendant retains an inequitable benefit from Plaintiff by not properly paying Plaintiff all
compensation owed, in violation of the laws of the United States and the State of Florida.

75. Plaintiff seeks damages under quantum meruit that are the reasonable value of the
services rendered to, provided to, and performed for Defendant.

WHEREFORE Plaintiff seeks a judgment under quantum meruit for damages for the

reasonable value of the services performed and provided for Defendant, interest and costs, and

other damages deemed just by this Honorable Court.
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COUNT V
Unjust Enrichment

76. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25
of this complaint as if set out in full herein.

77. Plaintiff has conferred a benefit upon Defendant for services performed and provided to
Defendant.

78. Defendant has knowledge of the services performed and provided by Plaintiff.

79. Defendant voluntarily accepted the services performed and provided by Plaintiff.

80. Defendant unjustly benefits from the services performed and provided by Plaintiff by not
properly paying Plaintiff all compensation owed, in violation of the laws of the United States and
the State of Florida.

81. To the extent no adequate legal remedy exists, Plaintiff seeks damages for the value of
the work performed to Defendant.

WHEREFORE Plaintiff seeks a judgment for unjust enrichment against ‘Defendant,
interest and costs, and other damages deemed just by this Honorable Court.

COUNT VI
Interference with Rights Under The FMLA

82. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25
above as if set out in full herein.

83. Plaintiff is an individual entitled to protection under the FMLA.

84. Plaintiff is an employee within the meaning of the FMLA.

85. Plaintiff engaged in protected activity within the meaning of the FMLA.

86. Defendant's actions interfered with Plaintiff's lawful exercise of FMLA rights.

87. Defendant's actions constitute violations of the FMLA.
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88. As a result of Defendant's unlawful conduct, Plaintiff has suffered and continues to suffer

damages.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays for the following relief against Defendant:

A,

Adjudge and decree that Defendant has violated the FMLA and has done so
willfully, intentionally and with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights;

Enter a judgment requiring that Defendant pay Plaintiff appropriate back pay,
front pay, benefits' adjustment, and prejudgment interest at amounts to be proved
at trial for the unlawful employment practices described herein;

Enter an award against Defendant and award Plaintiff compensatory damages for
mental anguish, personal suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life;

Require Defendant to reinstate Plaintiff to her position at the rate of pay and with
the full benefits she would have, had she not been discriminated against by
Defendant, or in lieu of reinstatement, award her front pay;

Award Plaintiff the costs of this action, together with a reasonable attorneys' fees;
and

Grant Plaintiff such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper under the
circumstances.

COUNT VII
Retaliation Under the FMILA

89. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1 through 25

above as if set out in full herein.

90. Plaintiff is an individual entitled to protection under the FMLA.

91. Plaintiff is an employee within the meaning of the FMLA.

92. Plaintiff engaged in protected activity within the meaning of the FMLA.
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93. Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff for exercising rights protected under the FMLA.

94, Defendant's actions constitute a violation of the FMLA.

95. As a result of Defendant's unlawful conduct, Plaintiff has suffered and continues to suffer

damages.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays for the following relief against Defendant:

A.

Adjudge and decree that Defendant has violated the FMLA and has done so willfully,
intentionally and with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights;

Enter a judgment requiring that Defendant pay Plaintiff appropriate back pay, front
pay, benefits’ adjustment, and prejudgment interest at amounts to be proved at trial for
the unlawful employment practices described herein;

Enter an award against Defendant and award Plaintiff compensatory damages for
mental anguish, personal suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life;

Award Plaintiff the costs of this action, together with a reasonable attorneys' fees;

and

Grant Plaintiff such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper under the

circumstances.
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JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands trial by jury of all issues triable as of right by jury.

Dated L“ZS } '(6

Anthony M. Georges-Pierre, Esq.
Florida Bar N¢.: 533637
agp@rgpattorneys.com

REMER & GEORGES-PIERRE, PLLC
44 West Flagler Street, Suite 2200

Miami, FL 33130

Telephone: (305) 416-5000

Facsimile: (305) 416-5005
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